
Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720  
 

Huddersfield 
 

 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Jenny Bryce-Chan 
 

Email: jenny.bryce-chan@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Friday 16 February 2024 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel 
 

The Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel will meet in the Council 
Chamber - Town Hall, Huddersfield at 10.00 am on Monday 26 February 
2024. 
 
This meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the Council’s 
website at the time of the meeting and follow the instructions on the page. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
 
 
 

The Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel members are:- 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Member  

Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair) 
Councillor Zarina Amin 
Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Harry McCarthy 
Councillor John Taylor 
Councillor Manisha Roma Kaushik 
Jonathan Milner (Co-Optee) 
Chris Friend (Co-Optee) 

 

  



 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Panel 
 
To receive apologies for absence from those Members who are 
unable to attend the meeting. 

 

 
 

 

2:   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on the 15 
January 2024. 
 

 
 

1 - 8 

3:   Declaration of Interests 
 
Members will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda 
in which they have any disclosable pecuniary interests or any other 
interests, which may prevent them from participating in any 
discussion of the items or participating in any vote upon the items. 
 

 
 

9 - 10 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items take place in public. This only changes where 
there is a need to consider exempt information, as contained at 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. You will be 
informed at this point which items are to be recommended for 
exclusion and to be resolved by the Panel. 
 

 
 

 

5:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Panel will receive any petitions and/or deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also submit a petition 
at the meeting relating to a matter on which the body has powers 
and responsibilities. 
 
 

 



 

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10, Members of the 
Public must submit a deputation in writing, at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting and shall subsequently be 
notified if the deputation shall be heard. A maximum of four 
deputations shall be heard at any one meeting. 
 

 
 

6:   Public Question Time 
 
To receive any public questions. 
  
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 
 

 
 

 

7:   Local Centres - Marsden 
 

The Panel will receive a presentation on Local Centres, Marsden. 
 

Contact: Simon Taylor, Head of Town Centres Programme, and 
David Wildman, Strategic Partnership Lead, Tel: 01484 221000 
 

 
 

11 - 20 

8:   Kirklees Local Plan Update 
 

- The Panel will receive an update on the progress of the Kirklees 
Local Plan. 

- The Panel are asked to note the revised national planning policy 
and implications for the Local Plan update programme. 

 
Contact: Johanna Scrutton, Planning Policy and Strategy Group 
Leader, and Mathias Franklin, Head of Planning and Development 
Tel: 01484 221000 

 

 
 

21 - 38 

9:   Work Programme and Forward Plan 
 

The Panel will consider its work programme and Forward Plan of Key 
Decision items relating to Growth and Regeneration. 
 

Contact: Jenny Bryce-Chan, Principal Governance Officer 
 

 

39 - 48 



 

 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Jenny Bryce-Chan  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

GROWTH AND REGENERATION SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Monday 15th January 2024 
 
Present: Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair) 
 Councillor Zarina Amin 

Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Harry McCarthy 
Councillor John Taylor 
Councillor Manisha Roma Kaushik 

  
Co-optees Jonathan Milner 

Chris Friend 
  
In attendance: Cllr Turner, Portfolio Holder for Finance and Regeneration 

Cllr Crook, Portfolio Holder for, Housing, Transport and 
Highways 
David Shepherd, Strategic Director for Growth and 
Regeneration 
Rashid Mahmood, Head of Major Projects (Interim) 
Edward Highfield, Service Director for Skills and 
Regeneration 
 

 
1 Membership of the Committee 

All Panel members were in attendance. 
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
That the minutes of the Panel meeting held on the 10th October 2023 and the 20th 
November 2023 were approved as a correct record. 
 

3 Interests 
Cllr Lee Richards, declared an ‘other’ interest. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
All agenda items were considered in public session. 
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

6 Public Question Time 
In accordance with Council Procedure rule 11, Mr Chas Ball, Secretary from 
Kirklees Cycling Campaign attended the meeting and asked a number of questions. 

 
Responses to the questions were provided by the Service Director for Skills and 
Regeneration.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel -  15 January 2024 
 

2 
 

 
7 Transport Strategy 

Cllr Moses Crook, Portfolio Holder for Housing, Transport and Highways, introduced 
the Transport Strategy, advising the Panel that the report being presented will 
provide an update on the development of the Kirklees Transport Strategy including 
priorities, work undertaken to date and areas still being developed.  
 
In line with the request from Scrutiny, it is important to note that since this strategy is 
still in development, there is an opportunity for Panel members to offer suggestions 
and input which will influence the ongoing development process. The Kirklees 
Transport Strategy will compliment and align with both the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority and National Strategies, to ensure that common themes will be 
implemented to best promote Kirklees priorities and interests.  
 
It will be an inclusive strategy with public transport and Active Travel as central 
themes alongside a renewed commitment to the 2038 net zero ambition, which is 
essential as transport is the largest contributor to UK emissions. The strategy will 
promote choice and appropriate modes of choice for appropriate journeys. While it 
is pro-sustainable transport, this does not translate to be an anti-car strategy. By 
increasing accessibility to lower carbon transport modes along with education and 
incentives it is possible to make sustainable transport an obvious and easy choice, 
promoting adoption without being prohibitive to car travel. 
 
The strategy and its content ahead of full adoption, will inform current and future 
projects, improve and enhance inclusion and contribute to both economic growth 
and meet the 2038 commitment. 
 
Rashid Mahmood, Head of Major Projects (interim) informed the Panel that the 
report sets out the position and the vision of the Kirklees Transport Strategy.  In 
addition, the report outlines the importance of the alignment between the Council’s 
emerging Local Development Plan and the emerging West Yorkshire local Transport 
Plan. 
 
The Panel was advised that the Strategy is currently in development and the aim is 
to serve some of the following purposes: 
 
- To assist with delivery of the core Council priorities including achieving our 

ambitious net zero objectives by 2038 
- To provide the adopted Council position on transport policy and the 

development of local transport schemes and initiatives 
- Support the Council with the implementation of transport schemes and 

measures through clear policy and direction 
- Provide both evidence and clear policy objectives and actions to assist with the 

Kirklees Local Development Plan Review and support future land use planning 
allocations with Kirklees 

- To both feed into and support the emerging statutory West Yorkshire LTP4 which 
is anticipated to be developed in 2024/25. LTP4 is being developed and will be 
drafted this year (2024) and published in 2025  

 

Page 2



Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel -  15 January 2024 
 

3 
 

The Panel was informed that the vision for the Transport Strategy includes matters 
such as the dominance of the private car, the alignment with fully integrated Active 
Travel links, and it must be fully supported by a first class reliable and affordable 
public transport system. It is important that there is improved connectivity, and that 
access is easy and accessible across the district. 
 
In summary the vision is as follows: 
 
- All communities across the district are connected and have equal access to 

opportunities 
- Transport affordability for all is a priority 
- Healthy and sustainable travel is an obvious and easy choice 
 
The Panel was informed that the strategy sets out the long term approach and is 
linked with other emerging strategies, for example, bus reform, active travel 
strategy, and integrated rail strategy.  
 
Active Travel  - is an integral part of the approach to sustainable transport in 
Kirklees, enabling residents to walk, cycle and wheel (wheelchairs, mobility scooters 
etc.) for short journeys as well as integrating it with other modes particularly public 
transport. 
 
Bus – It is important to recognise the strategic importance of bus services as the 
most heavily used form of public transport. Since the pandemic the bus network has 
suffered, therefore, bus reform recognises the need for change. 
 
Rail – The West Yorkshire Rail Strategy is an important part of the integrated 
transport vision moving forward, facilitating a shift towards more sustainable and 
efficient modes of transport. The TransPennine Route is an integral part of this. 
 
Road Network – Some new road building will be necessary to alleviate congestion 
hotspots. Bringing forward development sites will be critical to support growth and 
regeneration plans for the district. It is also important to improve safety on the roads, 
and address concerns for those walking, cycling and wheeling. 
 
Decarbonisation – Recognises that road transport is one of the biggest contributors 
to air pollution, and the strategy and vision supports a comprehensive electric 
vehicle charging network within the district. Work will also be undertaken with the 
bus operators to move to a near zero emissions bus fleet. 
 
West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan – is currently being worked on, and is due to 
be published in Summer 2025, and will replace the current West Yorkshire 
Transport Strategy 2040. 
 
In response to the information presented, the Panel made comments and asked 
questions including some of the following: 
 
- Whilst it is recognised that the ambition is to get to net zero, it would appear that 

there is a move to get people out of cars and on to public transport. This is of 
concern, particularly for people in certain areas, for example rural areas where 

Page 3



Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel -  15 January 2024 
 

4 
 

public transport is infrequent and unreliable. This restricts peoples’ movement 
which will have an effect on economic growth as they may struggle to get to work, 
or may be required to leave work earlier in order to get the limited buses that are 
available. There is a concern that the strategy does not appear to be forward 
looking and lacks innovation. The ability to use cars gives individuals flexibilities 
and freedoms,  and whilst electric cars may seem like a solution, there are issues 
with their weight and their reliance on non-renewable resources. There are 
concerns as to whether the strategy is looking far enough into the future to be 
considered a long-term strategy. 

 
- The information presented mentions active travel, however when it comes down 

to the reality, there are concerns, particularly in certain wards where, for example, 
the decision has been made by the Council to discontinue funding to repair lights. 
People will therefore stop using the active travel route because it is considered 
dangerous and dark. 

 
- The report (Section 2.1) mentions a reduced need for reliance on the private car, 

how has it been determined that there is a reduced need for the private car? 
Where is the evidence base for this? 

 
- The strategy does not appear to address the availability of public transport 

outside of the town centres. The strategy also aims to ensure that communities 
across the district are connected and have equal access to opportunities, 
however, some communities have difficulties accessing public facilities such as 
hospitals because of a lack of public transport. Unless an individual has their own 
car, they are likely to struggle to get to appointments or visit relatives. 

 
- Whilst the strategy appears to contain a lot of information, it is not clear what the 

vision is. It does not emphasise Kirklees being in a central geographical position, 
equidistant from Manchester, Leeds and Sheffield, linking also the three Mayoral 
districts. 

 
- Funding has been secured to make improvements to the Penistone Line, 

however, it needs further investment and needs to be at the heart of the Transport 
Strategy. 

 
- The strategy does not appear to address concerns regarding the safety of road 

users in certain areas where cars are known to exceed the speed limit. 
 

- Will the Council be leading on introducing electric vehicle charging points in the 
Town Centre? 

 
- The report (Section 3.4) mentions air quality considerations, however there is no 

detail, how will this be implemented? 
 

- It is heartening to see that Active Travel was to be embedded in the strategy and 
not just seen as an add-on. It is hoped that the ambitions of Kirklees are realised 
through successful outcomes. 

 

Page 4



Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel -  15 January 2024 
 

5 
 

- Consideration needs to be given to providing a range of electric vehicle 
charging points to fulfil a range of different users, for example, some points in 
the town centre where charging takes two hours, as well as some high-speed 
charging points. 
 

- Whilst it is recognised that the strategy is a draft and is high level, it will be 
good to see further detail in future. 
 

- Often the concerns around public transport raised by residents are not in 
relation to the cost, but the reliability of services. Public transport in and out of 
Huddersfield on paper appears to be very good, however the links between 
villages is what causes people to rely on cars. 
 

- Ensuring that train stations are fully accessible, should be a key priority in the 
strategy, as many disabled people are currently unable to travel on trains in 
Kirklees because of the lack of accessibility. 
 

- Has consideration been given to how electric vehicle charging points will be 
set up where there is mainly terraced housing? 
 

- As part of Active Travel, is the Council looking at routes down to the canal 
paths and will the strategy include any programmes of education for members 
of the public, with regard to road safety, for example, wearing high visibility 
clothing. 

 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That Rashid Mahmood and Cllr Crook be thanked for providing an update on the 
Transport Strategy. 
 

8 Major Projects Transport Programme Update (General) 
Cllr Moses Crook, Portfolio Holder for Housing, Transport and Highways, introduced 
the Major Projects Transport Programme update, advising the Panel that the report 
being presented is in response to a request from Scrutiny for an updates on various 
aspects of the transport programme.  
 
The report includes an update on the delivery of current and future programmes, 
details around the TransPennine Route Upgrade, and outlines how they link up with 
the Transport Strategy. Furthermore, it introduces and sets out the various transport 
schemes that are underway and in development, as well as schemes that are 
currently paused at various stages, due to inflation and broader economic factors. 
 
The report details how the Transport Strategy will inform projects and the priorities 
within each project. It also contains detail on the work being undertaken to ensure 
that the TransPennine Route Upgrade scheme delivers maximum benefit for 
Kirklees, including providing links into communities, and supporting mode shift and 
inclusive economic growth. 
 

Page 5



Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel -  15 January 2024 
 

6 
 

The Panel was informed that whilst current economic conditions and inflationary 
pressures have resulted in several capital programs within Kirklees being paused at 
various stages, the inclusion of forward-looking projects, in a pipeline of projects 
ready for funding, gives a head start when bidding into future funding streams.  
Work put into these schemes is not wasted or lost in this pipeline approach, as has 
recently been demonstrated by success in being allocated funding from the 
Levelling-Up Fund, round three, for the Penistone Line Upgrade. This success 
demonstrates that the transport scheme development strategy and programme is fit 
for purpose. 
 
Rashid Mahmood, Head of Major Projects (interim) informed the Panel that the 
appended report gives a brief outline of the transport schemes, what has been done 
to date, key milestones, and some information on the TransPennine Route Upgrade 
(TRU). The report also contains to appendices, Appendix 1, covers the projects in 
detail, showing the programmes in accordance with the funding streams, and 
Appendix 2 gives visuals of the TransPennine Route Upgrade.  
 
The Panel was informed that there are a number of funding steams that support the 
Transport Plan Capital Programme: 
 
1. The West Yorkshire Transport Fund – established in 2014 with £1bn funding to 

focus on a number of issues relating to the strategic transport movements of 
traffic within the district. Key development areas include orbital routes, route 
corridor improvements for better public transport options, road and rail 
improvement between district hubs to provide capacity and better connectivity, 
and enhancing rail station gateways through, for example, better access. 
 

2. City Regional Sustainable Transport Fund (CRSTS) – set up to make 
transformational changes in local transport networks. The programme will fund 
transport improvements including walking and cycling infrastructure and will 
enable more people to access public transport and promote walking and cycling 
in line with local regional and regional strategies. It was a five year programme, 
which started in 2022 and will run until 2027. There are discussions ongoing 
about CRSTS 2, to develop beyond 2027. 

 
3. Transforming Cities Fund (TCF)  –  forms part of the CRSTS, with a key focus on 

accessibility, producing attractive and clean alternative modes of transport to car 
journeys, and connecting people to economic and educational centres. There is 
also a focus on healthier communities for the future, air quality and carbon 
emissions. 

 
4. Active Travel Fund (ATF) – set up to create more space for walking and cycling 

schemes, while easing the pressure on public transport and relieving congestion 
on the current networks. The recent successful tranche four award to Kirklees is 
for £2.3m. This is for two schemes to upgrade towpaths along the Huddersfield 
Narrow Canal Phase 3 (Slaithwaite to Marsden) and the Huddersfield Broad 
Canal (Aspley Marina to Cooper Bridge) to support residents to walk and cycle 
more easily, providing health and environmental benefits. 

 

Page 6



Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel -  15 January 2024 
 

7 
 

The Panel was advised that further details on the individual projects can be found in 
Appendix 1.  
 
The Panel was informed that in October 2022, the West Yorkshire Transport Fund 
(WYTF) wider programme went through an inflation review process which resulted 
in schemes in Kirklees being paused or reduced in scope. The revised funding 
strategy is being developed with colleagues at the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority to help manage the project funding gap. In 2024, a reprofiled programme 
will be agreed, within the original funding allocation. 
 
The Panel was further informed regarding the work taking place on the 
TransPennine Route Upgrade, including the purpose of the scheme, costs, and 
timescales. Attention was drawn to paragraph 2.5.2 of the report outlining the scope 
of the Project, which identifies parts of the scheme which are relevant to Kirklees.  
 
The Panel was advised that collaborative working arrangements are in place with 
TRU, and that seven formal working groups meet monthly to feed back any issues 
to ensure that the works being undertaken are done in a way that will cause little 
disruption to residents and communities. The working groups are: 
 
- Highways Network Management Group 
- Property Group - Planning and Environmental Group 
- Heritage Group  
- Waste Project Delivery Group  
- Communications Group  
- Biodiversity/Landscape Group 
 
Any issues that cannot be resolved are escalated to a formal bi-monthly Programme 
Level meeting between Kirklees directors and senior sponsors of Network Rail. 
 
The Panel was provided with information which outlined aspects of the ambitions 
and vision of Mass Transit, specifically: combatting climate change, providing a real 
and sustainable alternative to the car, cutting emissions, improving air quality, and 
supporting productivity and inclusive growth.  West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
(WYCA) are currently preparing the Strategic Outline Case for Phase 1 of Mass 
Transit in conjunction with Kirklees officers to ensure that benefits are maximised for 
the district. 
 
The Panel was advised that the Penistone Line has secured £48m of Levelling Up 
funding and officers are working with partners including WYCA, South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined Authority, Barnsley, Northern, Transport for the North, and 
Network Rail to come to an understanding of a governance structure that will help to 
deliver that project. 
 
In response to the information presented, the Panel made comments and asked 
questions including some of the following: 
 

- The report section 2.4, makes reference to schemes that have been paused, 
is it possible to give an explanation of what M2D2L means? 
 

Page 7



Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel -  15 January 2024 
 

8 
 

- Whilst it is good that officers are talking with partners about moving forward 
with the Penistone Line, what involvement and information will be given to 
Councillors to enable them to influence what is going on and feedback to 
residents, and how will that be managed? 
 

- It is acknowledged that the scale of investment is positive, however there 
does not seem to be much investment in the South of the borough, except in 
Holmfirth Town Centre. 

 
- Improvements were welcomed, especially mobility hubs at several stations, 

however a concern was raised that while large sums of money were being 
spent on improvement on stations, there was little mention of the reliability of 
buses and trains. It was suggested that this was down to the bus and train 
operators, therefore, it is important for the public to know that this is not within 
the remit of the Council.   

 
- Officers were congratulated on the success of the bid for the TransPennine 

Route Upgrade, any improvements there are appreciated. It is important to 
link the benefits of the TRU Upgrade with the wider projects in the area, 
particularly the Marsden Blueprint and the Marsden Place Standards. 

 
- With regard to Strategic Transport priorities, it states that “All communities 

across the district are connected and have equal access to opportunities” - Is 
this realistic or aspirational and what is meant by “opportunities”? 

 
- There was an announcement in November of £8bn to be invested in roads 

and transport, this was money that was released when the HS2 scheme was 
cancelled. £3.3 bn was to be directed to Yorkshire and the Humber. Does this 
programme include the schemes funded through this money or is that funding 
allocation being worked on? 

 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That Rashid Mahmood and Cllr Crook be thanked for providing an update on the 
Major Projects Transport Programme Update (General). 
 

9 Work Programme and Forward Plan 
RESOLVED 
 
That holding meetings in different venues would be further explored.  
 
 

Page 8



 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 

COUNCIL/CABINET/COMMITTEE MEETINGS ETC 
DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Growth & Regeneration Scrutiny Panel 
Name of Councillor 

Item in which you have an 
interest 

Type of interest (eg a 
disclosable pecuniary 
interest or an “Other 
Interest”) 

Does the nature of the 
interest require you to 
withdraw from the meeting 
while the item in which you 
have an interest is under 
consideration? [Y/N] 

Brief description of your 
interest 

    

    

    

    

 
 

Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: …………………………………….. 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 3



NOTES 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 

If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable pecuniary interests under the new national rules. Any reference to 
spouse or civil partner includes any person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or as if they were your civil partner. 

 
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain, which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 

 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. 

 
Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has 
a beneficial interest) and your council or authority - 

• under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
• which has not been fully discharged. 

 
Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

 
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or 
authority for a month or longer. 

 
Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - the landlord is your council or authority; and the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, has a beneficial interest. 

 
Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of your council or authority; and 
(b) either - 

the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

P
age 10



Marsden
Investing in the future

February 24

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 7



Why Marsden

• Marsden’s full economic potential is not being realised – it has a constrained 
commercial offer, high levels of out-commuting, along with issues caused by traffic, 
parking and unused property which impact quality of place. 

• The funding secured via LUF2 to support the redevelopment of New Mills, the 
investment that will come as part of the TRU project and the existing level of active 
community engagement all present an opportunity if they can be brought together.

• A Marsden Masterplan will provide a structured approach and framework for the 
development and delivery of improvements over the long term to unlock Marsden’s full 
potential as a thriving, accessible and quality place that people want to live, work and 
visit.

• In June 2023 Cabinet delegated authority to approve the Masterplan for Marsden to the 
Strategic Director for Growth and Regeneration – a report setting out a proposed 
approach is going to Cabinet in March 2024 to seek endorsement of a partnership-led 
way of working.

P
age 12



Marsden Masterplan: Overview 

• To set out a longer-term vision for Marsden and identify priority projects. A Delivery 
Plan will form part of the document setting out proposed projects and commercial 
opportunities along with indicative costs and suggested next steps. This will enable the 
council to pursue funding opportunities and undertake discussions with private sector 
developers. 

• To maximise local engagement and help develop long-term ownership it is proposed to 
establish a Community Partnership to help embed a community and place led approach 
that can shape the masterplan.

• Whilst the Council will remain the accountable body, the Partnership will help to shape 
the vision, provide local insight, oversee community engagement and support the 
council as an advisory body

P
age 13



Marsden Masterplan:
Overview 
• Key locations and proposed 

Masterplan study area

P
age 14



Marsden Masterplan: Community Partnership

• The Partnership would be made up of invited representatives, with no more than 9 or 10 
members, including one representative from each of the following:

• Marsden Community Trust

• Marsden Community Association

• Kirklees Council

• Ward Councillor

• Local businesses

• Local landowner and/or developer

• Youth-based / sports group

• Community group / organisation

• Local schools

P
age 15



Marsden Masterplan: Scope

• The scope of the Masterplan will reflect lessons learned from other Masterplan 
development studies across the Borough whilst also reflecting matters specific to 
Marsden to include masterplanning, public realm, transport, and commercial viability. 
The Council does not have this resource available, nor would it be the best use of Council 
resources. It is proposed that a scope is developed, and external support procured.

• Set Gateways / Key milestones will be identified within the scope to ensure that the 
Council and the Partnership are content with the outputs at each stage.

• The Scope will involve engagement and consultation – this will involve working with the 
Community Partnership and the Democracy and Place Based Working Service to build on 
engagement to date. It will also involve engagement with TRU and the Development 
team for New Mills to build on any engagement and seek alignment wherever possible.

P
age 16



New Mills, LUF2: Overview

• £5.6m from DLUHC to support site redevelopment and address viability gap –
total project value of £17.3m. Scope of works include development, clearance, 
refurb & new build to deliver mixed-use site with 58,500sqft commercial space + 
30 residential units or additional commercial space

• Seeks to address demand for employment space, out-commuting and derelict 
buildings which are constraining local economic growth and impacting sense of 
place

• Whilst funding is allocated to Council as accountable body the work is private-
sector led by a Development Team instructed by the Crowther family as 
landowner and developer.

P
age 17



New Mills, LUF2: Progress

• Regular liaison between Council and Development team

• During December 23, the Dev Team undertook engagement and site visits with Historic 
England, Community representatives, and the Council’s Planning & Heritage officers.

• In Dec 23 the Dev Team submitted a pre-app submission to Historic England (and are 
awaiting feedback). Council has engaged with team at Historic England.

• Dev Team plan to submit a pre-app application to Council as Planning Authority in 
February 2024 – Council proposing a multi-disciplinary workshop to follow the pre-app 
submission to discuss options and next steps.

• Council has engaged with the Levelling Up Places Service – once pre-app is submitted 
the Council and DT will seek input from a Place Advisor.

• Council engaging with DLUHC and helping to strengthen working relationship.P
age 18



New Mills, LUF2:
Plans

P
age 19



Next steps / Timescales

• Feb 2024: Briefings with Ward Councillors and MP

• Feb 2024: New Mills Development team pre-app submission to Planning Authority

• March 2024: Cabinet approval sought to progress with Partnership & Masterplan

• March 2024: Place Standard Action Plan agreed

• March – April 2024: Community Partnership established to support Masterplan

• March - May 2024: Procurement of external support for Masterplan

• March – June 2024: New Mills planning app development inc. engagement & consultation*

• March – June 2024: TRU engagement*

• Summer 2024: New Mills planning app submitted*

• June – Dec 2024: Development of Masterplan and Delivery Plan

*Subject to emerging programmes & ongoing discussionsP
age 20



1 
 

 
 

REPORT TITLE: Kirklees Local Plan Update 
  

Meeting:  
 

Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel 

Date:  
 

26th February 2024 

Cabinet Member (if applicable) 
 

Cllr Graham Turner (portfolio holder) 

Key Decision 
Eligible for Call In 
 

Yes 
Yes 
 

Purpose of Report  

 To update on the progress of the Kirklees Local Plan Update. 

 To note revised national planning policy and implications for the Local Plan update 
programme. 

 

Recommendations  
1. Scrutiny Panel to note the progress on the Local Plan update and the implications of 

revised national planning policy.  

Reasons for Recommendations 

 Scrutiny Panel requested an update on the progress of the Local Plan update to have 
early input into scrutiny of the work programme. 

Resource Implications: 
Costs to prepare a new Local Plan are estimated to be approximately £2m over the life span 
of the project (based on discussions with authorities who have recently been through the 
process). This would be refined as the process evolves and the policy team has been 
working closely with Leeds City Region colleagues, Pathfinder authorities, Planning 
Advisory Service to review Plan costs. 
 
It is anticipated that there will be £130K allocated for next year from the council towards the 
costs of producing the local plan (which includes consultation costs) with additional costs 
paid for from income from the Leeds City Region (LCR) business rate rebate pool being 
made available to support additional local plan costs (previously agreed). 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Finance? 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Legal Governance and 
Commissioning? 
 

David Shepherd 
Strategic Director for growth and 
Regeneration 
9th February 2024 
 
Isabel Brittain 
Interim Service Director - Finance 
15th February 2024 
 
Julie Muscroft 
Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
Commissioning 
9th February 2024 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

Electoral wards affected: All 
 
Ward councillors consulted: Portfolio holder Briefing: (Cllr Graham Turner) 13th February 
2024 
 
Public or private: Public 
 
Has GDPR been considered? No personal data is contained in this report. 
 
1. Executive Summary 

 
Council on 15th November 2023, approved the commencement of an update of the 
Kirklees Local Plan following a statutorily required review process to ensure that the Plan 
was fit for purpose. 
 
Prior to Council’s decision, a report outlining the review process and next steps was 
presented to Scrutiny on 25th September 2023. 
 
Scrutiny asked to be kept up to date on the progress of the Local Plan update. The 
purpose of this report is to outline the key areas of work which have been undertaken or 
are ongoing for the period November 2023 to February 2024. 
 
This report sets out the following: 

 A summary of the process, outcomes, and decision to commence a full update of the 
Plan. 

 Progress on key supporting documents linked to the Local Plan update including: 
o Update on the Interim Housing Position Statement (reported to Scrutiny Panel 

on 20th November 2023) which seeks to set out a proactive approach to 
boosting housing supply in the absence of a five-year land supply. 

o Production of the Local Plan Timetable and Statement of Community 
Involvement. These documents play an important role as part of the Local Plan 
update by identifying consultation methods and opportunities to become 
involved in shaping planning policy (SCI) and the timetable to do so through 
the LPT. 

 Progress on the Local Plan update which has taken place to date.  This includes: 
o Early engagement 
o Identifying Sites 
o Evidence 
o Policy Review and Development 

 The potential implications of recent revisions to national planning policy framework 
and further proposed legislative/guidance changes are outlined and implications for 
the work programme. 

 
2. Information required to take a decision 

 
Background 

 
2.1 Local Plan Review 

 
A report on the Local Plan review process was presented to Scrutiny on 25th 
September 2023 which outlined the approach to be taken and the role of the Planning 
Officer’s Society. The review was still being undertaken at the time of the report. A 

Page 22



3 
 

summary of the outcomes presented to Cabinet on 17th October 2023 and Council on 
15th November 2023 are outlined below.  
 
A review of the Kirklees Local Plan was undertaken in the summer of 2023. The review 
commenced in accordance with the statutory requirement to review and publish the 
outcomes on whether the Local Plan is fit for purpose within 5 years from the date of 
adoption. For Kirklees, this process was required to be completed by February 2024.  
 
The review outcomes indicated that the plan was out of date in several areas: 

 The council does not have a 5-year supply of housing. 

 The council is not meeting its housing delivery targets. 

 The assessment has identified issues relating to the achievement of sufficient jobs 
across the district to meet the 23,000 jobs target set out in the Local Plan including 
concerns about achieving sufficient jobs from remaining employment allocations and 
issues around the spatial distribution of employment opportunities. 

 The council’s employment delivery and land supply are borderline and there are 
concerns that the delivery of potential 1,782 jobs that may be delivered from 
employment/mixed-use allocations are yet to enter the planning process. 

 Key site allocations are unlikely to deliver housing/employment targets within the Plan 
period which will impact on the delivery of the Kirklees spatial strategy. 

 The Local Plan was adopted prior to the council declaring a climate change 
emergency in 2019. It is considered an update of the Local Plan provides an 
opportunity develop a planning framework that supports the council’s ambition of 
being net zero and climate ready by 2038. 

 
The reasons for the above issues being identified as out of date were outlined in the 
Cabinet Report 17th October and the Council Report 15th November 2023 and included: 

 Housing delivery lower than the Local Plan requirement. Since 2020, the pandemic 
and economic circumstances are likely to have impacted on delivery rates. 

 Reliance on three strategic housing sites. The complexity of granting permission on 
such large-scale sites impacted on expected delivery within the plan period. 

 Employment/job targets - During the Local Plan period from 2013, it was expected 
that 23,200 jobs would be delivered, of which 6,920 jobs were expected from Local 
Plan employment/mixed use allocations and 11,039 were from planning permissions, 
completions, and Priority Employment Areas. Monitoring indicated that 5,820 jobs 
have been provided or were in the process of being provided from employment or 
mixed-use sites. The assessment has raised concerns about the delivery of potential 
1,782 jobs that may be delivered from employment/mixed-use allocations yet to enter 
the planning process and would count towards the Local Plan aspiration of achieving 
23,000 additional jobs over the plan period. Economic uncertainties such as those 
caused by the pandemic has impacted on the delivery of strategic sites. 

 Opportunity to consider plan policies to support the Council’s climate change 
ambitions. 

 
How was the decision to undertake a full update informed? 
 
The decision to undertake a full update was informed by the Planning Officers Society 
(POS) who were appointed by the council to act as an independent critical friend on the 
Local Plan review.  In the opinion of POS, there were several potential risks with a partial 
review:  
  

Page 23



4 
 

a) “A partial review must follow the same processes and stages as the preparation of a 
new plan or full plan update and the amount of work, costs and resources involved 
should not be under-estimated. 

 
b) Partial updates generally are only suitable where there is a specific part of the plan 
that is considered out of date. Due to the inter-relationships between the spatial strategy 
and the policies and between policies themselves, a full update is likely to be of most 
benefit.  
 
c) Based on cases elsewhere in the country, there is evidence that partial updates have 
resulted in confusion for the public where different parts of the Local Plan were updated 
at different times”. 
 
The findings were presented to Cabinet on the 17th, October 2023 for ratification and 
referred to Council on 15th November 2023 who approved a full update of the Local Plan. 
 

2.2 Update on work relating to the Local Plan Update  
 
Interim Housing Position Statement to Boost Supply 
 
As a response to not having a 5-year supply of housing and the council not meeting its 
housing requirements, an Interim Housing Position Statement to Boost Supply was 
produced as a precursor to the consideration of the council’s housing position to be 
considered as part of the update of the Local Plan. The main aim of this statement is to 
provide a positive and proactive approach to dealing with planning applications in the 
absence of a 5-year housing land supply. It set outs a mechanism to help boost supply 
and provides clarity for landowners, developers, agents, and the public submitting 
planning applications for new housing development in the district. The interim statement 
will also help facilitate the council’s Development Management service and enable more 
effective and timely decision-making through the planning application process. 

 
It is considered an important tool to support boosting housing supply and delivery in 
advance of the update of the Local Plan.  Additionally, engaging with landowners, 
developers, agents, and the public through this process has the potential to feed into 
early engagement on the Local Plan. 
 
The Interim Housing Position Statement was presented to Scrutiny Panel on 20th 
November 2023 and approved by Cabinet on 21st December 2023.  The statement will 
become operative from the end of February on the 5th anniversary of the Local Plan. 
 

2.3 Local Plan Timetable  
 
The timetable for Local Plan update was first published in the Cabinet Report 17th 
October 2023 and the Council report 15th November on the Local Plan Review and 
Update. 

 

Local Plan preparation stage Consultation periods Timescale 

Local Plan Timetable  None required but the 
timetable formed part of 
Cabinet and Council 
reports. 

January 2024 

Page 24



5 
 

Local Plan preparation stage Consultation periods Timescale 

Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI) – setting out how we will consult 
the community 

6-week consultation on 
a draft. The final 
document will be 
presented to Cabinet for 
adoption. 

March 2024 

Early engagement about spatial 
strategy, broad ideas about scale of 
growth.   

Period of engagement 
at least 6 weeks 

August 2024 

Draft Local Plan – showing spatial 
strategy, draft site allocations and 
policies) 

6-week consultation September 
2025 

Publication Draft Local Plan – 
showing the final version of the plan 
supported by the Council which is then 
submitted for independent examination) 

6-week consultation 
(representations period) 

September 
2026 

Submission to the Secretary of State 
followed by an independent examination 
in public 

The plan would then 
have a formal 
Examination in Public 

March 2027 

 
The production of a Local Plan Timetable (LPT) is a statutory requirement under 
Schedule 7(15B) of the Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023. The Act requires that a 
timetable for producing a Local Plan, Supplementary Plans, Design Codes, other policy 
guidance/advice and the annual monitoring activity/programme associated with them is 
produced and published. The LPT is the replacement document for the council’s existing 
Local Development Scheme, which was adopted in December 2019. The LPT sets out 
when documents will be produced, the brief purpose of those documents and when 
consultation is likely to happen. The LPT contains an updated timetable to that presented 
at Cabinet and Council:  

 
Local Plan Timetable and Milestones- LPT 

Timetable and milestones Dates 

Early Engagement Consultation  August - October 2024 

Draft Plan Consultation  September - November 2025 

Publication Draft Consultation  September - November 2026 

Submission to Secretary of State March 2027 

 
An up-to-date LPT at the beginning of the Local Plan update, not only ensures 
compliance with statutory requirements but provides stakeholders with a timetable of 
documents and the opportunities to become involved in shaping policy documents. 
Compliance with an up-to-date LPT is an issue which is assessed at the independent 
Local Plan examination stage Procedure Guide for Local Plan Examinations - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) paragraph 1.22.  

 
A LPT has been prepared for consideration by Cabinet on 12th March 2024. This 
represents a change from the previous milestone of January 2024. It was considered that 
a combined report on the timetable and the Statement of Community Involvement (see 
following section) would be of benefit to stakeholders. Both documents play an important 
role as part of the Local Plan update by identifying consultation methods and 
opportunities to become involved in shaping planning policy (SCI) and the timetable to do 
so through the LPT. 
 
 

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/examining-local-plans-procedural-practice/procedure-guide-for-local-plan-examinations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/examining-local-plans-procedural-practice/procedure-guide-for-local-plan-examinations


6 
 

2.4 Statement of Community Involvement 
 
The SCI sets out principles of engagement, consultation techniques and details of how 
residents and stakeholders can get involved in all aspects of planning. 
 
Legislation requires that a Local Planning Authority (LPA) must review its SCI every 5 
years from its adoption. The current SCI was adopted in December 2019; therefore, the 
review must have taken place before December 2024. Following the council decision that 
a full update of the Local Plan should commence; it was considered timely to review and 
update the SCI. 
 
 
There is no statutory requirement for local planning authorities to consult when reviewing 
and updating their Statement of Community Involvement, but it was considered that the 
Local Plan update and the potential through the Planning reforms for communities to 
have a greater role in shaping locally derived policies, engaging with local communities 
and stakeholders on this document would have added benefits in preparing future 
planning documents and aid transparency of the processes.  

 
Cabinet on 17th October 2023 Agenda for Cabinet on Tuesday 17th October 2023, 3.00 
pm | Kirklees Council, approved a delegated decision for the Strategic Director, Growth 
and Regeneration to commence consultation on a revised draft SCI.  
 
The revised draft SCI was prepared October – November 2023 and public consultation 
(Have your say on the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) consultation | Kirklees 
Council) took place for a period of circa 7 weeks (Monday 20th November 2023 to Friday 
5th January 2024). Proposed amendments have been made to the document in response 
to the consultation and Cabinet will be asked to adopt the final document on 12th March 
2024.  
 
It should be noted that the SCI formed an important document in the scrutiny of the 
“adequacy” of the council’s engagement and consultation at the examination of the 
existing Local Plan. The independent Inspector considered the “public consultation … 
was extensive and wide ranging and elicited a high level of responses” and concluded 
the consultation was in compliance with the SCI and relevant regulations (Kirklees 
Council Local Plan Inspector's Report paragraphs 14 – 16) January 2019. It is, therefore, 
important moving forward that early engagement/consultation required to meet statutory 
stages of the Plan making process are shaped in the context of the SCI and the council’s 
Inclusive Communities Framework. The council must also comply with its public sector 
equality duty under the Equality Act 2010 and will produce an Integrated Impact 
Assessment at key milestones of the update. 
 

2.5 Early Engagement  
 
The LPT outlines early engagement about the spatial strategy and broad areas about 
scale of growth in August – October 2024. Prior to this, it is intended to engage with 
residents and stakeholders in February – March 2024 to inform them of the Local Plan 
update, why it is required, the purpose of a Local Plan and to seek views on the vision 
and content. This work will help shape locally derived priorities for the Plan.   
 
It is important that the Local Plan vision aligns with the council’s overall plan and 
partnership strategies including the Environment Strategy, Inclusive Economy Strategy, 
Kirklees Health and Well-being Strategy and the Inclusive Communities Framework. A 

Page 26

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MeetingId=7414
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MeetingId=7414
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/statement-community-involvement-consultation.aspx
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/statement-community-involvement-consultation.aspx
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/pdf/local-plan-inspectors-report/Kirklees-Local-Plan-Inspectors-Report.pdf
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/pdf/local-plan-inspectors-report/Kirklees-Local-Plan-Inspectors-Report.pdf


7 
 

revised Council Plan  was presented to cabinet on 13th February 2024 (Agenda for 
Cabinet on Tuesday 13th February 2024, 3.00 pm | Kirklees Council). The draft Local 
Plan vision and objectives will be shaped by both the early engagement, corporate 
priorities and national planning policy. 
 
In terms of the nature and form of future consultation, this has not yet been scoped and 
will depend in part on what issues the council’s evidence gathering identifies and 
feedback from early engagement. All consultation will accord with statutory requirements, 
the principles outlined in the SCI, and an assessment of the consultation using the 
council’s Inclusive Communities Framework. A review of previous Local Plan consultation 
processes will also be undertaken to shape the Local Plan update. 
 
As part of the examination of a Local Plan, one of the prescribed documents is a 
statement of who was invited to make representations, how they were invited, a 
summary of the main issues raised and how they were taken into account in shaping the 
Local Plan.  Details of the previous local plan consultation can be viewed via the 
following link: Local Plan examination library, Section 1 - Submission documents | 
Kirklees Council 

 SD12 Kirklees Council Statement of Pre-Submission Consultation – November 2016 

 SD13 Statement of Publication Consultation and Summary of main issues 
(Regulation 22) 

 
The Consultation Statement remains as part of the requirements for the Local Plan 
update. Member involvement in shaping the direction of the Plan is a key part of the 
process and a communications/consultation plan will be developed which clearly outlines 
how members will be involved. The Statement of Community Involvement also 
references that members will be involved in the plan preparation and kept informed of 
progress through briefings, workshops and email.  
 

2.6 Identifying sites 
The council’s Call for Sites process has remained open since February 2020.  It is an 
opportunity for residents, community groups, business operators, landowners and 
developers to suggest sites that they would like to be considered for development as part 
of the preparation of the updated Local Plan. Following feedback from users, about the 
useability of the forms and the website, work has been undertaken to amend the 
forms/website and to update the internal IT system for the assessment of the sites.  
 
Early engagement on the Local Plan update provides an opportunity to actively 
undertake a call for sites which will be considered as part of the development of a draft 
spatial strategy and broad areas of growth to be consulted on in August 2024. 
 
All statutory consultees, Town and Parish Councils, Neighbourhood Plan groups, 
members and consultees on the planning policy consultation portal will be notified and 
the policy team will work with the council’s communication team to ensure that the 
engagement is publicised widely. 
 
The call for sites process, forms one element of identifying sites with work either in 
progress or to be started on:  

 Ongoing promotion and review of the council’s brownfield land register. 

 Work with services to identify development needs and opportunities (early stages). 

 Working with members (to be actioned). 
 
 

Page 27

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=7543
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=7543
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/local-plan-submission-documents-2017.aspx
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/local-plan-submission-documents-2017.aspx


8 
 

2.7 Evidence 
 
The Planning Reforms consultation on the Implementation of Plan Making reforms 
Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill: consultation on implementation of plan-making 
reforms - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Chapter 5 states that “evidence will remain an important 
part of plan-making and monitoring, allowing planning authorities to develop robust and 
effective plans and allowing communities and other stakeholders to understand the 
decisions that have been made” (Paragraph 85). The reforms also refer to ensuring 
evidence is “proportionate”. This has yet to be defined.  
 
Work has commenced on reviewing the evidence base that will be required to support 
the Local Plan update including:  

 The evidencing and justification of a revised spatial strategy (this will require evidence 
on housing and employment requirements). 

 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (including household surveys and 
demographic work). 

 Gypsy, Travellers and Travelling Show people Needs Assessment (in accordance 
with the revised NNG definition). 

 Employment Land Demand Assessment/Review. 

 Updated evidence on employment needs, including the number of jobs and the land 
requirement. 

 Office Market Assessment - the office make-up and how they are used has changed 
substantially since Covid. 

 Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Regulation 
Assessment. 

 Design - Local Design Code, master planning. 

 Landscape Character Assessment. 

 Carbon Impact Assessment. 

 Retail capacity and leisure study. 

 Waste Needs Assessment. 

 Minerals supply/demand assessments. 

 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. 

 Consideration of infrastructure to support the spatial strategy including transport 
modelling, viability evidence. 

 Update to the previous Green Belt Review. This list is not exhaustive. 
 
The council’s Transport Strategy Team are in the process of producing a Transport 
Strategy (an update was presented to Scrutiny Panel on 15th January 2024). The current 
Local Plan contains policies on strategic transport infrastructure which includes the 
opportunity to safeguard land for transport infrastructure (LP19), sustainable travel 
(LP20) and core walking and cycling network (LP23). The Transport Strategy will form a 
key piece of evidence in relation to reviewing these policies and developing sustainable 
travel as part of the Local Plan update. The Policy Team and Transport Strategy Team 
are also engaged with Active Travel as part of a pilot scheme to develop model policies 
and the evidence to support them.  
 
Transport modelling will be required to test the impact of a revised spatial strategy. The 
impacts of proposed sites individually and cumulatively will be considered as part of the 
site assessment process. The Policy team are currently scoping internal resources in 
conjunction with Major Projects. 
 
Transport infrastructure and other infrastructure requirements will be considered through 
an updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). This will identify infrastructure 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/plan-making-reforms-consultation-on-implementation/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-consultation-on-implementation-of-plan-making-reforms#chapter5
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/plan-making-reforms-consultation-on-implementation/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-consultation-on-implementation-of-plan-making-reforms#chapter5


9 
 

requirements across Kirklees, setting out what is needed, where, and when. It includes 
projects relevant to waste, transport, education, utilities, health, sports, and green 
infrastructure. The IDP will help to co-ordinate the partnerships required to deliver 
infrastructure improvements in a timely manner to support development.  
 
Opportunities for working with research colleagues from Huddersfield University are also 
being investigated.  
 
A new national requirement to produce a district wide design code has been introduced. 
Work has started to review the approaches undertaken by the Government’s Pathfinders 
of which Bradford Council was one, to assess evidence requirements which would 
support design code development for Kirklees.  

 
Whilst work is progressing on evidence scoping, there has been a delay to progress due 
to the publication of new guidance relating to national planning policy and changes to the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – see Appendix 1 Main Changes to the 
National Planning Framework (December 2023). Changes have been made to several 
topic areas including housing. Additionally, revised requirements in relation to the 
infrastructure levy and environmental outcome reports which are proposed to replace 
Strategic Environmental Assessments have not yet been finalised by the government.  
This has the potential to impact on the current work programme. Other legislative 
changes include the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023. The Act has introduced a 
number of changes, for example the introduction of national development management 
policies (see section 2.8) and revised Infrastructure Levy for which regulations on the 
detail for implementation have yet to be published. 
 
We will, however, shortly be commissioning a Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) which will form a key evidence base for the up-dated Local Plan and will include 
a Local Housing Need assessment and affordable housing need assessment in 
accordance with NPPF and NPPG requirements using the most up-to-date evidence 
available. It will update and review the district’s housing market areas and provide an 
analysis of the key strategic demographic, housing and economic data and evidence to 
provide clear and justified recommendations to inform the production of a new housing 
requirement figure for the up-dated Local Plan. Included within the NPPF is a new 
expectation for authorities to ensure they meet the need for retirement housing, housing 
with care, and care homes in addition to other specialised needs.  

The NPPF expects local authorities to follow the standard method for assessing local 
housing need, which is set out in National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). The 
standard method uses a formula to identify the minimum number of homes expected to 
be planned for, in a way which addresses projected household growth and historic under-
supply. The updated NPPF published in December 2023 states that the standard method 
is an “advisory starting point” for local authorities in generating housing numbers. 
“Exceptional circumstances, including relating to the particular demographic 
characteristics of an area” may justify an alternative approach to assessing housing need 
other than the standard method. The NPPF adds a footnote with an example of “islands 
with no land bridge that have a significant proportion of elderly residents.” 

The government plans to review the implications for the standard method of new 
household projections data based on the 2021 Census but said these are now not due to 
be published until 2025. This will need to be carefully considered as part of the 
development of the SHMA. 
 

Page 29



10 
 

2.8 Policy Review and Development 
 
In terms of the Local Plan policies, feedback from internal service users, is that most of 
the Local Plan policies remain fit for purpose and form a robust framework to assess 
planning applications and to support council objectives. The Local Plan alongside 
national planning policy remain the main tools for assessing planning applications 
together with the council’s supplementary planning documents and where relevant the 
Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan. 
 
The Local Plan update provides the opportunity to consider a range of policies to support 
climate change and to review how existing policy can be extended. As previously 
mentioned, an example is the work being undertaken with Active Travel to develop model 
policies. Other policy areas to consider are the development of policies to support 
biodiversity net gain (currently the council has a Technical Advice Note), a review of the 
design policy to support the nationally required Design Code and any policy development 
to support Local Nature Recovery Strategy. The revised NPPF (December 2023) 
introduces new requirements around community led housing.  
 
Work is ongoing on reviewing policy. This will continue to involve service users and will 
be informed by early engagement feedback and the changes to national planning policy. 
 
It should be noted that the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023 (Commencement 
No. 2 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024 (February 2024) brings into force a 
statutory basis for national development management policies (through the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 Section 38ZA). National development management 
policies (NDMPs) will be determined by the government.  NDMPs will set out general 
policies on issues that apply in most areas and will have the same weight as local plans 
in decision making. Where there is conflict between a NPDM and Local Plan policy, the 
NPDM takes precedent. The content of these policies has not yet been published and the 
expectation is that the Local Plan would not duplicate policies on these issues.  

 
2.9 Cost Breakdown 

 
Costs to prepare a new Local Plan are estimated to be approximately £2m over the life 
span of the project (based on discussions with authorities who have recently been 
through the process). This would be refined as the process evolves and the policy team 
has been working closely with Leeds City Region colleagues, Pathfinder authorities, 
Planning Advisory Service to review Plan costs (see Resource Implications).  
 
The Policy Team has been reviewing and scoping all elements of the Plan making 
process in particular the evidence requirements to support the Local Plan update to 
present an informed budget forecast.  The team has also been working closely with 
procurement colleagues to ensure compliance with revised decision-making sign off 
processes and working with colleagues across the council and Leeds City Region 
partners to consider shared resources.  
 
Budget forecasting has focussed on the following main areas associated with plan 
making:  

 Early engagement and consultation (Estimated £56,000). 

 Evidence – evidence/modelling and viability testing) - the National Planning Policy 
Framework requires a Local Plan to be justified and effective (Estimated £1,298,500).  

 Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment: a statutory 
requirement to promote sustainable development by assessing the extent to which 

Page 30



11 
 

the emerging plan, when judged against reasonable alternatives, will help to achieve 
relevant environmental, economic and social objectives (Estimated £195,500).  

 Examination – costs associated with the examination including the independent 
inspector and programme officer (Estimated £433,000). 

 
2.10 Expected impact/ outcomes, benefits & risks (how they will be managed) 

The outcome of a Local Plan update is that it will provide an opportunity to update the 
Plan to ensure a continued robust and effective planning framework to guide future 
development across the district and a suite of policies to support development 
management decisions. It also provides an opportunity to support the council’s ambitions 
for net zero by 2038 and objectives identified in the revised Council Plan.  
 
The LPT will provide a timetable against which progress can be monitored. The annual 
authority monitoring report also provides a monitoring tool to support delivery and risk 
management. The policy team will continue to work with the Service Director for Finance 
and the Head of Procurement to ensure that the project finances and procurement are 
managed effectively and in accordance with council practices. 

 
2.11 Sustainability 

National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 32, 2023 states that: “Local plans and 
spatial development strategies should be informed throughout their preparation by a 
sustainability appraisal that meets the relevant legal requirements. This should 
demonstrate how the plan has addressed relevant economic, social, and environmental 
objectives (including opportunities for net gains). Significant adverse impacts on these 
objectives should be avoided and, wherever possible, alternative options which reduce or 
eliminate such impacts should be pursued. Where significant adverse impacts are 
unavoidable, suitable mitigation measures should be proposed (or, where this is not 
possible compensatory measures should be considered)”.  

 
 An overarching priority for the Local Plan is to deliver long term sustainable growth, 

ensuring that the council positively considers the three pillars of sustainable development 
– economic, environmental, and social. The Local Plan recognises that to do this, its 
vision and objectives should be drawn from the Council Plan and other corporate 
strategies to reflect how ambitions for personal prosperity and health, together with 
ambitions for jobs and business growth effect how we should plan for new development. 

 
2.12 Services & agencies involved 

The Local Plan timetable has been set out in the context of existing resources within 
Planning Policy but would also require commitment from a range of service areas to 
assist with this process. Consultancy support will also be required in relation to some 
specialist topic areas (such as Sustainability Appraisal, viability, a districtwide design 
codes and transport modelling). The preparation of the Local Plan will involve working 
with members, specific and general consultation bodies, residents, and business. The 
ways in which the council will engage are set out in a revised Statement of Community 
Involvement which is subject to Cabinet approval. 

 
3. Implications for the Council 
 
3.1      Working with People 

 
The Statement of Community Involvement sets out the methods of engaging with people 
including residents, businesses, stakeholders, developers, agents, statutory consultees, and 
the general public. The Local Plan Timetable sets out the timetable when this will happen. 

Page 31



12 
 

 
3.2      Working with Partners 

As above. 
 

3.3       Place Based Working  
The Local Plan update will take account of the range of different characteristics and 
communities across Kirklees, for example assessing housing needs. It will also seek the 
views of communities from the inception of the plan-making process through early 
engagement exercises and throughout the production of the Local Plan update. The 
requirement to undertake a district design code supports place making objectives. 
Methods of consultation are set out in an updated Statement of Community Involvement 
which is to be presented to Cabinet on 12th March 2024 and embraces council 
approaches such as the Inclusive Communities Framework. 
 

3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality 
The Local Plan review sets out the Climate Emergency as one of the key factors indicating a 
Local Plan update is required. Although the current Local Plan was assessed as sustainable 
during the Local Plan process, it doesn’t specifically set out how developments will 
contribute to the net zero targets by 2038. The Local Plan update provides the opportunity to 
take account of the Kirklees Climate Change Action Plan and to consider how planning 
policy interventions can contribute towards reducing carbon emissions and ensuring 
resilience against climate change. 

 
3.5 Improving outcomes for children 

The Local Plan update will consider the needs of children through ensuring sufficient 
education facilities are available to meet the needs of new developments but also links to 
health outcomes by protecting valuable open spaces close to where children live and 
providing housing to meet local needs. 
 

3.6 Financial Implications  
It is anticipated that there will be £130K allocated for next year from the council towards the 
costs of producing the local plan (which includes consultation costs), paid for from income 
from the LCR business rate rebate pool being made available to support additional local 
plan costs (previously agreed). 
 
The costs of early engagement/consultation will vary according to the nature and scope of 
the engagement exercises which will be scoped against statutory requirements, whether it is 
district-wide or specific to a topic or area and the mix of methods used. The Planning Policy 
team will engage with other service users to maximise the use of existing consultation 
feedback where appropriate to inform policy development to make best use of resources.      
 
Legal Implications   
SCIs are a statutory requirement under section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act and are required to be reviewed (and updated when necessary) under 
regulation 10A(1)(b) of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended). 
 
An LPT is a statutory requirement under Schedule 7(15B) of the Levelling-up and 
Regeneration Act 2023. The LPT informs interested parties when documents will be 
produced, the broad remit of documents and when interested parties can expect to get 
involved. 
 
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and the Town and 

Page 32



13 
 

Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) govern the 
review, preparation, consultation, examination, and adoption of Local Plans. In preparing 
a local plan, the council amongst other things must ensure that the plan is prepared in 
accordance with the council’s Local Plan Timetable, have regard to national 
policies/guidance, comply with the council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 
 
The Council must comply with its public sector equality duty under the Equality Act 2010 
and additionally will produce an Integrated Impact Assessment as required. 

 
3.8     Other (eg Risk, Integrated Impact Assessment or Human Resources)  
 

 Integrated Impact Assessment – An integrated impact assessment have been 
undertaken for the Local Plan and the SCI and can be found via the following links: 
Local Plan - Integrated Impact Assessments - IntegratedImpactAssessment 
(kirklees.gov.uk) 
SCI - Integrated Impact Assessments - IntegratedImpactAssessment (kirklees.gov.uk) 
 

 Human Resources – The Local Plan Time Timetable has been set out in the context 
of existing resources within Planning Policy but would also require commitment from 
a range of service areas to assist with the process. Consultancy support will be 
required in relation to specialist, technical evidence as outlined in the report. 
 

4. Consultation  
Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel were consulted on the Local Plan review 
process on 25th September. At this meeting, Panel members asked questions relating to 
the use of the Planning Advisory Service template which set out a series of questions to 
evaluate whether the Plan policies were still in accordance with relevant requirements in 
national planning policy, an assessment of the delivery of the spatial strategy and its 
impact on the effectiveness of plan policies and whether the council had revised its 
priorities which would require a change to the approach set out in the current plan. The 
Panel also raised questions on the production of the Statement of Community 
Involvement and the need to ensure that early engagement/consultation included a range 
of measures to ensure it was inclusive and reached a wide range of groups. The 
proposed Local Plan timetable and key milestones were noted. 
 
Growth and Regeneration were consulted on 20th November on the Interim Housing 
Position Statement.  Panel members were keen to ensure that future development was 
considered in relation to Local Plan policies and where relevant in accordance with the 
council’s suite of quality spaces Supplementary Planning Documents. Further signposts 
to other council initiatives to boost housing supply were requested. 
 

5. Engagement 
 
Early Engagement/consultation is set out in the report at section 2.5. 
 

6. Options   
 

6.1      Options considered  
 
Scrutiny Panel to note the progress on the Local Plan update and supporting documents 
and the implications of revised national planning policy.  
 

Page 33

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/integrated-impact-assessments/home/details/IIA-560100003/
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/integrated-impact-assessments/home/details/IIA-560100003/
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/integrated-impact-assessments/home/details/IIA-557517255/


14 
 

6.2      Reasons for recommended option 
   

Scrutiny Panel requested an update on the progress of the Local Plan update to have 
early input into scrutiny of the work programme. 

 
7. Next steps and timelines 

 
A joint report on the Statement of Community Involvement and the Local Plan timetable 
LPT will be presented to Cabinet on 12th March 2024.  
 
Local Plan - Work will continue with the programme areas outlined in the report. Further 
changes implemented through revised national planning policy, planning reforms or 
legislation relating to the Local Plan will continue to be monitored and reviewed. 
 

8. Contact officer  
Jo Scrutton 
Planning Policy and Strategy Group Leader, Planning Policy Group 
johanna.scrutton@kirklees.gov.uk 
(01484) 221000  
 
Mathias Franklin 
Head of Planning and Development 
mathias.franklin@kirklees.gov.uk 
(01484) 221000 
 

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

 Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel 25th September 2023 – Kirklees Local Plan 
Review Process and Update 2023-09-25 Scrutiny Local Plan Review and Update.pdf 
(kirklees.gov.uk) 

 Cabinet report 17th October 2024 – Kirklees Local Plan Review and Update 2023-10-
17 Local Plan Review-Update Cabinet Report and App1 finaldocx.pdf 
(kirklees.gov.uk) 

 Council report 15th November 2023 Kirklees Local Plan Review and Update 
(Reference from Cabinet) 2023-10-17 Local Plan Review-Update Cabinet Report and 
App1 finaldocx.pdf (kirklees.gov.uk) 

 Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel 20th November 2023 Interim Housing 
Position to Boost Supply Item 7 2023-11-20 Scrutiny Interim Housing Position 
Statement to Boost Supply.pdf (kirklees.gov.uk) 

 Cabinet 21st December 2023 Interim Housing Position Statement to Boost Supply  
2023-12-21 Cabinet Report Interim Housing Position Statement to Boost Supply.pdf 
(kirklees.gov.uk) 

 Kirklees Local Plan adopted 27th February 2019 www.kirklees.gov.uk/localplan 

 National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023) National Planning Policy 
Framework (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

 Growth and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel 15th January 2024 Transport Strategy Item 
7 GR Scrutiny Report - Transport Strategy Final.pdf (kirklees.gov.uk) 

 Cabinet 13th February 2024 Our 2024/25 Council Plan Our Council Plan - Cabinet 
Report - 13.02.24.pdf (kirklees.gov.uk) 
 

10. Appendices 
Appendix 1: Main changes to the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

Page 34

mailto:mathias.franklin@kirklees.gov.uk
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s53608/2023-09-25%20Scrutiny%20Local%20Plan%20Review%20and%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s53608/2023-09-25%20Scrutiny%20Local%20Plan%20Review%20and%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s53902/2023-10-17%20Local%20Plan%20Review-Update%20Cabinet%20Report%20and%20App1%20finaldocx.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s53902/2023-10-17%20Local%20Plan%20Review-Update%20Cabinet%20Report%20and%20App1%20finaldocx.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s53902/2023-10-17%20Local%20Plan%20Review-Update%20Cabinet%20Report%20and%20App1%20finaldocx.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s53902/2023-10-17%20Local%20Plan%20Review-Update%20Cabinet%20Report%20and%20App1%20finaldocx.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s53902/2023-10-17%20Local%20Plan%20Review-Update%20Cabinet%20Report%20and%20App1%20finaldocx.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s54272/Item%207%202023-11-20%20Scrutiny%20Interim%20Housing%20Position%20Statement%20to%20Boost%20Supply.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s54272/Item%207%202023-11-20%20Scrutiny%20Interim%20Housing%20Position%20Statement%20to%20Boost%20Supply.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s54737/2023-12-21%20Cabinet%20Report%20Interim%20Housing%20Position%20Statement%20to%20Boost%20Supply.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s54737/2023-12-21%20Cabinet%20Report%20Interim%20Housing%20Position%20Statement%20to%20Boost%20Supply.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/localplan
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65a11af7e8f5ec000f1f8c46/NPPF_December_2023.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65a11af7e8f5ec000f1f8c46/NPPF_December_2023.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s54964/Item%207%20GR%20Scrutiny%20Report%20-%20Transport%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s54964/Item%207%20GR%20Scrutiny%20Report%20-%20Transport%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s55512/Our%20Council%20Plan%20-%20Cabinet%20Report%20-%2013.02.24.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s55512/Our%20Council%20Plan%20-%20Cabinet%20Report%20-%2013.02.24.pdf


15 
 

11. Service Director responsible  
 
David Shepherd  
Strategic Director Growth and Regeneration 
david.shepherd@kirklees.gov.uk 

  

Page 35

mailto:david.shepherd@kirklees.gov.uk


16 
 

Appendix 1  

 

Main Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023) 
 
The main changes to the updated NPPF that was published in December 2023 are shown 
below by topics, including potential implications for Kirklees. 
 
Achieving Sustainable Development 

 Presumption in favour of sustainable development – clarification that development plan 
policies are out of date where: - 
(a) the LPA cannot demonstrate a five-year supply (or a four-year supply for emerging 
plans) of deliverable housing sites and does not benefit from the provisions of paragraph 76 
(authorities with a plan less than five years old no longer need to continually show a 
deliverable five-year housing land supply); or  
(b) where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was below 75% 
of the housing requirement over the previous three years. 

 Neighbourhood Plans - protection against development that conflicts with neighbourhood 
plans has been extended to plans that are up to five years old (previously this was for plans 
up to two years old). Tests removed which had meant local planning authorities needed to 
demonstrate a minimum housing land supply and have delivered a minimum amount in the 
Housing Delivery Test in order that Neighbourhood Plans benefited from the protection. 

 
Housing 

 The standard method for calculating housing need - is an “advisory starting point” for 
local authorities in generating housing numbers. The government’s consultation response 
makes clear this simply confirms explicitly in national policy the existing status as set out in 
guidance. The response has also confirmed the government plans to review the 
implications for the standard method of new household projections data based on the 2021 
Census but said these are now not due to be published until 2025.  

 Local characteristics which may justify the use of an alternative method of assessing 
housing need - the new NPPF says “exceptional circumstances, including relating to the 
particular demographic characteristics of an area” may justify an alternative approach to 
assessing housing need other than the standard method. It adds a footnote with an 
example of “islands with no land bridge that have a significant proportion of elderly 
residents.” 

 Standard method uplift - the NPPF retains the uplift of 35 per cent to the assessed 
housing need for the 20 largest towns and cities in England. This does not apply to Kirklees 
but does include Leeds and Bradford.  

 Meeting older people’s housing needs - new expectation for authorities to ensure they 
meet the need for retirement housing, housing with care, and care homes. 

 

Identifying Land for Homes 

 Community-led housing, and self-build and custom build housing - new clause that 
councils should use policies and decisions to support small sites for community-led housing 
and self-build and custom build housing and makes a new reference to permissions in 
principle as a way to enable this.  

 Exception sites for “community-led development’ - authorities should support the 
development of exception sites for “community-led development” on sites that would not 
otherwise be suitable as rural exception sites. A proportion of the market homes may be 
allowed on the site at the LPAs discretion. 

Page 36



17 
 

 Community-led development definition - new definition states that community-led 
developments must be instigated and taken forward by a not-for-profit organisation set up 
and run primarily for the purpose of meeting the housing needs of its members. 

 

Housing Supply and Delivery 

 Five-year housing land supply - authorities with an up-to-date local plan will no longer 
need to continually show a deliverable five-year housing land supply. ‘Up to date’ means 
where the housing requirement as set out in strategic policies is less than five years old. 

 Emerging plans reduced housing land supply requirement - authorities with emerging 
local plans will benefit from a reduced housing land supply requirement. For the purposes of 
decision-making, where emerging local plans have been submitted for examination or 
where they have been subject to a Regulation 18 or 19 consultation which included both a 
policies map and proposed allocations towards meeting housing need, those authorities will 
only have to demonstrate a four-year housing land supply requirement. 

 Housing land supply buffers - councils no longer have to provide five-year housing land 
supply buffers of 5 per cent or 10 per cent.  The 20 per cent buffer still applies as a 
consequent of failure to hit targets under the Housing Delivery Test. 

 Historic oversupply in five-year housing land supply calculations – amendment to 
include a reference to the “circumstances in which past shortfalls or over-supply can be 
addressed”. Additional planning practice guidance to be published in due course to offer 
further clarification on how this can be done. 

 

Making Effective Use of Land 

 Promotion of mansard roof extensions - authorities “should also allow mansard roof 
extensions on suitable properties” where they harmonise with the original building. 
Mansard roof definition added to the NPPF Glossary. 

 
Achieving appropriate densities 

 Character of local areas - new paragraph setting out the objective to protect the character of 
local areas. This states that significant uplifts in the average density of residential 
development may be inappropriate if the resulting built form would be “wholly out of 
character with the existing area”. The proposal applies to plan-making only, and any 
resulting policies should be evidenced by local design codes. 

 

 

Achieving Well-designed and Beautiful Places 

 Beauty agenda - the new NPPF includes a number of changes designed to embed the 
government’s “beauty” agenda. Beauty, beautiful places, and design is a new key theme 
throughout the updated NPPF. 

 Local design codes - added reference that the appropriate primary tool for assessing 
and improving the design of developments should be through the preparation and use of 
local design codes that are produced in line with the National Model Design Code. 

 Clear details of a scheme’s design and materials - relevant planning conditions 
should refer to “clear and accurate plans and drawings which provide visual clarity about 
the design of the development”, and which are “clear about the approved use of 
materials” to make enforcement easier.  

 
Green Belt   

 Green Belt Boundaries - there is “no requirement for Green Belt boundaries to be 
reviewed or changed” when plans are being prepared or altered. But councils can still 

Page 37



18 
 

choose to review boundaries “where exceptional circumstances” justify it, in which case 
proposals for change should be made only through the plan-making process. 
 

Climate Change 

 Energy efficient buildings - in determining planning applications, “significant weight” 
should be given to the importance of energy efficiency through adaptation of buildings. The 
NPPF says that where the proposals would affect conservation areas, listed buildings or 
other relevant designated heritage assets, local planning authorities should also apply 
relevant policies. 

 
The Natural Environment 

 Land for food production - should be considered when allocating agricultural land for 
development. When agricultural land must be used, poorer quality land should be 
preferred over higher quality land. 

 
 

 
 

Page 38



 
  
 
 
PANEL MEMBERS:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GOVERNANCE OFFICER: Jenny Bryce-Chan and Claire Gardiner 
 

Attendee Role 

Cllr Shabir Pandor Lead Member  

Cllr John Taylor Panel Member 

Cllr Manisha Kaushik Panel Member 

Cllr Harry McCarthy Panel Member 

Cllr Susan Lee-Richards Panel Member 

Cllr Zarina Amin Panel Member 

Chris Friend Panel Member (Co-optee) 

Jonathan Milner Panel Member (Co-optee) 

                  FULL PANEL DISCUSSION  

ISSUE APPROACH/AREAS OF 
FOCUS 

OUTCOME/ACTIONS  STRATEGIC DIRECTOR/SERVICE 
DIRECTOR AND LEAD OFFICERS 

DATE TO PANEL 

Introduction to Growth & Reg 
 

An introduction to the 
Growth and 
Regeneration Directorate 

To enable Panel members  
to understand the service 
area and remit of the 
directorate 

Joanne Bartholomew  
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr G Turner 

3 July 2023 

Housing Growth - Bradley Park 
- Planning applications 

 Joanne Bartholomew 
 
Portfolio holders – Cllr M Ahmed 

3 July 2023 

Small Centres Programme - Update of small 
centres including 
budget. Holmfirth, 
Heckmondwike and 
Cleckheaton 

 
 

 

Joanne Bartholomew 
 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr G Turner 

3 July 2023 

Damp Mould and 
Condensation  
 
 
 

- High volume of cases – 
bring a status update 
on the situation within 
the public and private 
rental sector  

 Naz Parkar 
 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr M Ahmed 

14 August 2023 

GROWTH & REGENERATION – WORK PROGRAMME PRIORITIES 2023/24 
 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 9



Tenant Safety 
 
 
 

To also include 
information on temporary 
accommodation/bed & 
breakfast 

 Naz Parkar 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr M Ahmed 

14 August 2023 

Huddersfield Town Centre 
 
 
 

Maintenance plans on 
regeneration areas, ie 
litter picking 
 

 Joanne Bartholomew 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr G Turner 

25 September 2023 

Dewsbury Town Centre 
 
 
 

Dewsbury Town Deal 
Board 
 
Opportunity for panel to 
visit the area 
 

 Joanne Bartholomew 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr C Scott 

25 September 2023 

Small Centres Programme Batley Small Centre 
 
 
 
 

 Joanne Bartholomew 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr G Turner 

25 September 2023 

Local Plan Review 
 
 

Feedback on the results 
of the Local Plan review 
and next steps 
 
 

 Johanna Scrutton 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr G Turner 

25 September 2023 

Economic Strategy Refresh 
 
 
 
 
 

   Edward Highfield 
 
 
Cllr G Turner  

10 October 2023 

Skills (post 16) 
 
 
 
 

  Edward Highfield 
 
Cllr E Reynolds  

10 October 2023 
 

‘Interim Housing Position 
Statement for Boosting Supply’ 
 

   
 
 

20 November 2023 
 

P
age 40



  
 

Cultural Heart updates 
 
Gateways 3/4 
 

  Edward Highfield/Joanne Bartholomew  
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr G Turner 

20 November 2023 

Corporate Risk 
 
 
 

Informal session to 
consider corporate risk 
relating to G&R 

 Martin Dearnley/Alice Carruthers 20 November 2023 

Transport Strategy 
 
Invite rep from WYCA to the 
meeting 
 
 

- Active Travel 
- Understanding the 

WYCA Transport 
Strategy 

- Reference to Greater 
Manchester and South 
Yorkshire Transport 
strategies 

 Edward Highfield 
 
 
Portfolio holder:  Cllr M Crook 

15 January 2024 

Transport Programme 
 
 
 

- Delivery of individual 
transport schemes 

- What has been 
achieved so far and 
looking ahead 

- Transport & Work Act 
Order 

- TRU 
- How the programmes 

link to the wider 
strategy 

 Edward Highfield 
 
 
Portfolio holder:  Cllr M Crook 

15 January 2024 

Small Centres Programme 
 

- Marsden  
 
 
 
 

 Joanne Bartholomew 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr G Turner 

26 February 2024 

Local Plan Review 
 
 
 

Remit of the Local Plan   Edward Highfield 
Johanna Scrutton 
 
 

26 February 2024 
 
 

P
age 41



 
 

 Cllr G Turner 

Complaints Handling 
(Council Housing 
Tenants/Private Sector) 
 
 
Potential to invite chair of the 
Housing Board 

Learning from 
ombudsman cases 
Should include private 
housing sector & 
supported housing 
Neighbour complaints 
Anti-social behaviour 
Repairs 

 Naz Parkar/Jill Greenfield/Joanne 
Bartholomew 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr M Crook 
 
 
 
 

25 March 2024 
 

Building Safety & Compliance 
Combined Action Plan  
 
(Formerly known as Ad Hoc 
Scrutiny Recommendations) 
 

  Naz Parkar 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr M Crook 

25 March 2024 
 
 

Housing Growth (progress 
update from 3 July 2023) 
 
 
 
 
 

To include  
- Building life-time 

homes 
- Impact on decrease in 

buy to let 

 Joanne Bartholomew 
 
Portfolio holder – Cllr M Crook 

25 March 2024 

Review work programme 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  25 March 2024 

PRE-DECISION     

Station to Stadium Regen work 
 
 

    

Meeting dates: 
3 July 2023 
14 August 2023 
25 September 2023 
10 October 2023 
20 November 2023 
15 January 2023 
26 February 2024 
25 March 2024 

 

P
age 42



1 

 Forward Plan - 1 February 2024 onwards 
FOR THE PERIOD 1 MARCH 2024 TO 30 JUNE 2024 

 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Decision Due 
Date 

Consultation Likely 
Exemption 

Background 
documents 

Member /  
Officer Contact 

Homes and Neighbourhoods 
Housing Management IT 
System Replacement 
A report seeking approval to a 
revised implementation plan 
and timetable for the new 
Housing Management System 
(CX) for Homes and 
Neighbourhoods. The revised 
plan is seeking approval for 
additional budget of 
£1,279,603 for the preferred 
option to be delivered within 
an 18 month period with best 
endeavours to complete within 
12 months. The two options 
proposed by officers are: 
 
Option One: Continue to 
implement Civica Cx 
(extending project by 12 
months to approx. 
November/December 2024). 
Total cost: £965,990.82. 
 
Option Two: (Preferred) 
Continue to implement Civica 
Cx (extending project by 18 
months to approx. May/June 
2024). Total cost: 

Cabinet 
 

12 Mar 2024 
 

 
 

Part exempt 
 

Background 
Information 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing & 
Highways 
Sarah 
Thistlethwaite  
sarah.thistlethwaite
@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

P
age 43



 

2 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Decision Due 
Date 

Consultation Likely 
Exemption 

Background 
documents 

Member / 
Officer Contact 

£1,279,602.82. 
 
Officers have consulted with 
the Homes and 
Neighbourhoods Improvement 
Board (HNIB) in relation to the 
options identified within the 
stocktake. HNIB also includes 
the Chair of the Tenant Voice 
Panel. All parties believed 
officers should not continue to 
explore procuring an 
alternative IT system, and that 
it would be preferable for 
Option Two to be progressed. 
 
The HNIB has nominated a 
Board member as a 'critical 
friend’ for this project who 
continues to provide officers 
with on-going support and 
advice.  
As part of the review, officers 
have consulted with several 
organisations (including other 
Local Authorities and Housing 
Associations) to gather their 
feedback and experience in 
relation to the implementation 
of Cx and continue to engage 
with some of these to share 
learning and best practice. 
 
 

P
age 44



 

3 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Decision Due 
Date 

Consultation Likely 
Exemption 

Background 
documents 

Member / 
Officer Contact 

Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy 2023 
The Council, as Lead Local Flood 
Authority, has a legal duty under 
the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 to 
produce, implement and monitor 
a Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy (Local Strategy). 
Council’s original strategy was 
published in 2013, a summary 
refresh was made in 2019 to 
provide an up-to-date evidence 
base to support the measures 
identified in the current Action 
Plan.  
 
The Local Strategy summarises 
the duties, responsibilities and 
actions that the Council will 
embrace to manage local sources 
of flood risk. It must align with the 
National Strategy produced by 
the Environment Agency.  
 
A revised National Strategy was 
published in July 2020 and was 
formally adopted by government 
in September 2020. This strategy 
describes what needs to be done 
by all risk management 
authorities (RMAs) involved in 
flood and coastal erosion risk 
management for the benefit of 
people and places.   
 
This has been a key driver to 
reviewing our current Local Flood 

Cabinet 
 

20 Feb 2024 
 

 
Engagement via 
workshops have taken 
place at the very 
beginning prior to 
drafting the strategy so 
key stakeholders can 
help shape the new 
strategy from the 
outset.  
 
Internal workshops 
have taken place with 
internal services such 
as Planning, Highways, 
Climate Change and 
Emergency Planning 
colleagues.  
 
An external workshop 
has taken place with 
Yorkshire Water, 
Environment Agency, 
and key partners such 
as the National Trust 
and many others.  
 

Periodic updates have 
been given to the 
Portfolio Holders.  
 
 
A public consultation 
exercise will be 
undertaken on the new 

Open 
 

 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance & 
Regeneration 
Paul Farndale 
 

P
age 45



 

4 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Decision Due 
Date 

Consultation Likely 
Exemption 

Background 
documents 

Member / 
Officer Contact 

Risk Management Strategy in 
ensuring alignment with the 
National Strategy.  

strategy and its 
associated documents. 
A survey will be set up 
to encourage residents 
to express their 
thoughts and opinions.  
 
All Members and 
Parish Councillors will 
be directed to the draft 
documents for 
comments. A separate 
workshop is intended to 
be set up with local 
flood community 
groups.   
 
A summary 
Consultation Report will 
be prepared to capture 
comments received. 

Local Plan Timetable 
The Local Plan Timetable 
(LPT) sets out the timetable 
for producing the Local Plan 
(including Minerals and 
Waste), Supplementary Plans, 
Design Codes, other policy 
guidance/evidence and the 
annual monitoring 
activity/programme associated 
with them. 
 
Background Papers; 

Cabinet 
 

12 Mar 2024 
 

 
 

Open 
 

 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance & 
Regeneration 
Hannah Morrison 
 

P
age 46



 

5 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Decision Due 
Date 

Consultation Likely 
Exemption 

Background 
documents 

Member / 
Officer Contact 

 

Current Local Development 
Scheme 2019 Kirklees 
Local Development Scheme 
Cabinet Report - Local Plan 
Review and Update Agenda 
for Cabinet on Tuesday 
17th October 2023, 3.00 pm 
| Kirklees Council 
Council Report - Local Plan 
Review and Update Agenda 
for Council on Wednesday 
15th November 2023, 5.30 
pm | Kirklees Council 
Cabinet Report - Local Plan 
Timetable (23 January 2024) 
 
There are no statutory 
requirements for consultation 
on a Local Plan Timetable 
document. The document 
informs interested parties 
when they can get involved in 
the Local Plan process.  

Round 3 Levelling Up Funding 
(LUF3) and Huddersfield 
Open Market Hall 
Regeneration 
To set out and agree the next 
steps for investment for the 
Regeneration of Huddersfield 
Open Market Hall to be funded 
via additional funding (in 

Cabinet 
 

12 Mar 2024 
 

 
 

Part exempt 
 

 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance & 
Regeneration 
Sarah Collins, 
Programme 
Manager – Town 
Centres  
sarah.collins@kirkl
ees.gov.uk 

P
age 47

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/pdf/local-development-scheme.pdf
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/pdf/local-development-scheme.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=7414&Ver=4
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=7414&Ver=4
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=7414&Ver=4
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=7414&Ver=4
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=7399&Ver=4
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=7399&Ver=4
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=7399&Ver=4
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=7399&Ver=4


 

6 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Decision Due 
Date 

Consultation Likely 
Exemption 

Background 
documents 

Member / 
Officer Contact 

particular Levelling Up Fund 
Round 3) announced by 
DLUHC for Huddersfield.  

 

 

P
age 48


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Declaration of Interests
	7 Local Centres - Marsden
	Slide 1: Marsden Investing in the future February 24
	Slide 2: Why Marsden
	Slide 3: Marsden Masterplan: Overview 
	Slide 4: Marsden Masterplan: Overview 
	Slide 5: Marsden Masterplan: Community Partnership
	Slide 6: Marsden Masterplan: Scope
	Slide 7: New Mills, LUF2: Overview
	Slide 8: New Mills, LUF2: Progress
	Slide 9: New Mills, LUF2: Plans
	Slide 10: Next steps / Timescales

	8 Kirklees Local Plan Update
	9 Work Programme and Forward Plan
	Forward Plan Items Feb 2024 onwards


